THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

 ORIGINAL

-----  
APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

RECEIVED

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

JUL 03 2014

SC Court of Appeals

-----  
Case Nos. 2011-GS-23-01118; 01122-01124

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Christopher E. Russell,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2013-000381

-----  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
-----

David B. Morgen, Esq.  
Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP  
550 South Tryon Street, Suite 2900  
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202  
(704) 444-2023

Robert M. Dudek, Esq.  
Division of Appellate Defense  
Post Office Box 11589  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-1330

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY ALLOWING THE REBUTTAL TESTIMONY OF THE COURTROOM DEPUTY WHO SAT IN COURT DURING THE ENTIRE TRIAL, WAS NOT PREVIOUSLY DISCLOSED AS A WITNESS, DID NOT TESTIFY AS TO ANY OF DEFENDANT'S EVIDENCE, AND PROVIDED THE ONLY TESTIMONY TO SUBSTANTIATE A CLAIM BY THE STATE'S STAR WITNESS THAT RELATED TO HIS IDENTIFICATION OF DEFENDANT AS HIS ACCOMPLICE?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE OBTAINED PURSUANT TO A SEARCH WARRANT THAT CONTAINED FALSE INFORMATION?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY NOT DECLARING A MISTRIAL AFTER THE SOLICITOR REPEATEDLY AND IMPROPERLY ATTACKED THE DEFENDANT'S ALIBI DEFENSE DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 19, 2011, at a Court of General Sessions, the Grand Jurors of Greenville County returned true bills on indictments against Christopher Eric Russell ("Russell") for Conspiracy (Case No. 2011-GS-23-001118), Kidnapping (Case No. 2011-GS-23-001122), Armed Robbery (Case No. 2011-GS-23-001123), and Burglary First Degree (Case No. 2011-GS-23-001124), all of which were alleged to have occurred on December 18, 2010. (R. pp. 530-37). On December 8, 2011, the State filed its Notice of Intent to Seek Life Without Parole. (R. pp. 523-25). On October 26, 2012, Russell, through counsel, filed a Notice of Alibi Defense setting forth his whereabouts on December 18, 2010 and identifying two witnesses who would testify to his alibi. (R. p. 477). On February 11, 2013, Russell made two oral motions to suppress evidence. (R. pp. 21-31). On February 11, 2013, Russell's motions were denied and he was put on trial before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh and a jury in Greenville County. (R. p. 31). Russell's

trial counsel moved for directed verdict and renewed her evidentiary motions at the close of each evidentiary phase. (R. pp. 314, 464). Russell's trial counsel objected to certain statements during the State's closing argument and moved for a mistrial, and renewed the motion after the jury instructions. (R. pp. 424, 464). On February 13, 2013, the jury deliberated and returned a verdict of guilty with respect to all four indictments. (R. pp. 468-70). The trial court sentenced Russell to life without parole. (R. pp. 474, 526-29). On February 20, 2013, Russell filed and served the Notice of Appeal. (R. p. 538).

## FACTS

This case involves a robbery of a residence in Greenville, South Carolina (the "Residence") that was perpetrated by Antonias Williams ("Williams") and another man on the evening of December 18, 2010. (R. p. 264). The owners of the Residence, Jeffrey and Elaine Lyles ("Mr. and Mrs. Lyles"), were surprised that evening by two armed individuals who tied them up, took the money that each had on their person, and ran from the house. (R. pp. 60-70, 93-97, 147-148). One of the robbers, Williams, tried to flee with Mr. Lyles' money and other possessions but was chased down at the scene by a police dog. (R. pp. 212-14). The other individual successfully fled the scene without being apprehended. (R. pp. 148-49). Although Williams initially refused to identify the other person who was with him, he later identified his partner and agreed to testify against him. (R. pp. 223-24). When Williams initially gave a statement to law enforcement, he identified his accomplice as "Poncho." (R. p. 303). When Williams testified at trial, he stated that his partner, "Poncho," was Russell. (R. pp. 264-65). No other witness testified during the State's case-in-chief that Russell was known as

“Poncho.” (R. pp. 368-70). In fact, one of the State’s witnesses testified that the State had a record of aliases for Russell, and “Poncho” was not one of them. (R. p. 252-53).

Williams admitted that he expected to receive a benefit from the State for his testimony against Russell. (R. p. 302-03). Before Russell’s trial, Williams pled guilty to conspiracy, armed robbery and kidnapping in connection with the robbery of the Residence, and was sentenced to five years in prison for conspiracy, with the State waiting until after Russell’s trial to sentence Williams on the other charges. (R. p. 260-61, 300-301). The State agreed to dismiss Williams’ burglary charge, which had the highest mandatory minimum sentence. (R. p. 303). Williams had a prior criminal record. (R. pp. 509-18). As a result, Williams could have been facing a lengthy prison term if the burglary charge had not been dropped by the State. (R. p. 298, 302-03).

What happened to Mr. and Mrs. Lyles was terrible, but Russell simply was not with Williams on the night of December 18, 2010. (R. p. 335). The Defense denied that Russell was “Poncho,” Williams’ accomplice who disappeared into the night. (R. pp. 406-48). Russell notified the State of his alibi defense, and presented his alibi at trial through the two witnesses identified in his notice. (R. p. 447, 329-31, 350-63).

*Where was Russell on December 18, 2010?*

On the evening of Saturday, December 18, 2010, Russell was at the home of his mother, Eleanor Russell (“Ms. Russell”), watching a sports game on her television with some other people. (R. pp. 335-38). Russell was accompanied by, among others, his girlfriend at the time, Ruby Willett (“Willett”). (R. pp. 352-54). According to Ms. Russell, Russell arrived around 7:00 p.m. and stayed until 10:00 p.m. (R. p. 335).

Russell and Willett went to his mother's house to watch the game because Russell and Willett's apartment did not have cable television at the time. (R. pp. 352-53).

*What did Williams do on December 18, 2010?*

Meanwhile, on December 18, 2010, Williams and the man that Williams initially identified as "Poncho," who the State alleged at trial was Russell, traveled to the Residence in a van that Williams had borrowed from his employer. (R. pp. 264-65, 273-74). Williams had been observing the Residence for several weeks. (R. p. 267). Williams intended to take money from an individual named Tavarus Lyles, also known as "T-Lyles," who was involved in drugs. (R. pp. 85, 267-68) Williams had been inside the Residence before with T-Lyles. (R. p. 308). Williams believed that T-Lyles lived at the Residence and kept a large amount of money there. (R. pp. 267-68). Williams and his accomplice put on ski masks that said "Police" and hid behind the Residence. (R. pp. 271-75). Williams testified that he and the other man left their cell phones in the vehicle before they went to hide behind the Residence. (R. pp. 274-75). After hiding for some time, Williams and the other man forced their way into the Residence when someone opened the back door to get firewood. (R. p. 277).

Williams took cash, a watch and a cell phone from the man in the Residence. (R. p. 279). The man Williams identified as Poncho told Williams that someone was coming, and another person arrived at the house and was taken to the ground by Williams and his partner. (R. pp. 279-80). Eventually, the police arrived. (R. p. 281). Williams tried to flee out the back door but was caught by a police dog. (R. p. 282). Williams had

no idea where his accomplice went when Williams tried to flee the house. (R. pp. 282-283). Williams refused to talk to police at the scene. (R. pp. 213-14).

*The Eyewitness Testimony Regarding December 18, 2010.*

Mr. and Mrs. Lyles, who lived in the Residence, both testified at trial. (R. p. 60). The Residence had two entrances, one in the front and one in the back. (R. pp. 145-46). Mr. and Mrs. Lyles were not home during the day on December 18, 2010 because they were working at a restaurant in Greenville owned by members of their family. (R. pp. 60-61, 89-90). Mr. Lyles, after cooking and cleaning at the restaurant, grew tired and left the restaurant around 4:45 p.m. (R. p. 61). Mrs. Lyles stayed at the restaurant for a longer period of time, along with the Lyles' granddaughter, Danielle Durham ("Durham"). (R. pp. 90-91). Mr. Lyles got home around 5:00 p.m. and started a fire and put on some music to relax. (R. p. 61). At some point that evening, Mr. Lyles stepped out the back door of the Residence to get more firewood. (R. p. 63).

When Mr. Lyles went outside to get firewood, he was confronted by two armed men wearing stocking caps that said "Police" on them. (R. p. 63). The men forced their way into the Residence. (Id.) The men forced Mr. Lyles to the ground and tied him up. (R. p. 66). One of the men pointed his gun at Mr. Lyles and demanded to know the location of "the safe." (Id.) Mr. Lyles was not aware of any safe in his home. (Id.) The men took Mr. Lyles around the Residence searching for "the safe." (R. pp. 66-68). One of the men demanded Mr. Lyles' money. (R. p. 66). Mr. Lyles gave the bigger man the cash that he had on his person. (R. p. 67). The bigger man also took Mr. Lyles' watch and cell phone. (R. p. 72). This same man was the one who had pushed Mr. Lyles to the

floor and tied him up. (R. p. 87). Williams was apprehended with Mr. Lyles' possessions on his person. (R. p. 214).

Meanwhile, around 8:30 p.m., Mrs. Lyles and Ms. Durham left the restaurant. (R. p. 90). They had intended to go to Waffle House to pick up dinner, but ended up driving to the Residence instead because they were unable to reach Mr. Lyles to find out what he wanted to eat. (R. pp. 90-92). Mrs. Lyles and Durham arrived at the Residence and went inside. (R. p. 91). When Mrs. Lyles went inside, she was surprised by an armed man wearing a mask that said "Police." (R. pp. 93-94). Durham, who was behind Mrs. Lyles, fled the house when she saw the man confront Mrs. Lyles. (R. pp. 135-36).

The man who surprised Mrs. Lyles tied her up and demanded to know where "the safe" was and demanded her money. (R. p. 95). Mrs. Lyles, like Mr. Lyles, was not aware of a safe in the residence and told the man that. (R. pp. 95-96). The man took the cash in Mrs. Lyles' purse. (R. pp. 96-97).

While Mr. and Mrs. Lyles were tied up in the Residence, Durham ran to the house next door. (R. pp. 142-44). At that time Jimmy McDaniel ("McDaniel"), who used to live at that house, was pulling into the driveway to return something to the house. (Id.) Durham ran up to McDaniel and asked for help. (R. p. 137). McDaniel called 911 and law enforcement thereafter arrived at the Residence. (R. pp. 145-46).

When law enforcement arrived, the two masked men in the Residence split up. (R. p. 99). Williams went to the back door, and his accomplice went to the front door. (R. pp. 99, 281-82). They opened the doors and ran from the residence. (R. pp. 147-48). Williams dropped his gun as he fled. (R. p. 282). A police dog chased Williams and

took him down. (Id.) According to McDaniel, the other man, who ran out the front door, disappeared into a wooded area. (R. pp. 148-49, 151).

*None of the Four Witnesses at Trial Definitively Identified Russell as Present at the Crime Scene on December 18, 2010.*

At trial, each of the four witnesses, Mr. Lyles, Mrs. Lyles, Durham and McDaniel, was asked to testify as to whether Russell was at the Residence on December 18, 2010. None of them could do so definitively. When Russell was pointed out by the Solicitor, Mr. Lyles testified that he had “[n]ever seen him before in my life.” (R. p. 74). Durham testified that she could not identify the man that she saw in the Lyles’ Residence. (R. p. 139). McDaniel testified that he only saw the build, not the face, of the man who ran out the front of the Residence, and speculated that the individual was African-American (like Russell and Williams) because of the racial makeup of the neighborhood, not any personal observation. (R. p. 150). He could not definitively identify the man who left out of the front of the Residence. (R. p. 149).

Russell initially objected to the State’s attempt to have Mrs. Lyles identify him in court. (R. p. 102). Mrs. Lyles testified in-camera that the height, weight, lips, complexion and voice of the man who ran out the front door were “consistent” with Mr. Russell’s appearance in court. (R. p. 105-06). However, she admitted that she did not get a good look at the man and could not make a complete identification. (R. p. 102). The Solicitor conceded that Mrs. Lyles could not make a definitive identification, either. (Id.) The trial court permitted the Solicitor to ask Mrs. Lyles the lips, height, build, complexion and voice of the man who ran out the front door of the Residence were similar to Russell. (R. pp. 118-24). She testified that they were, but did not specifically

identify the man who ran out the front door as Russell and said she only saw the man for one or two seconds without a mask on. (R. pp. 122-26).

Williams' accomplice, the man who ran out the front door, was not arrested at the crime scene on the night December 18, 2010. (R. p. 213). Law enforcement's only apparent clue regarding this man was a second cell phone discovered during a search of the vehicle that Williams had used the night of the robbery. (R. pp. 217-23). The evidence regarding the second cell phone was admitted over Russell's objection. (R. pp. 22-31, 218). No fingerprints, blood, DNA, hair, or other similar evidence was placed in the record to link Russell to either the vehicle Williams drove or to the Residence. (R. pp. 210, 229, 482-83).

*Williams' Testimony Was the Link Between Russell and the Crimes.*

The identity of "Poncho" was a significant issue at the trial. (R. pp. 375-76). When Williams initially confessed to police, he identified his accomplice as "Poncho." (R. p. 303). At trial, Williams testified that his accomplice was Russell, and Williams explained that he had always known Russell as "Poncho." (R. pp. 264-65). But there was no other evidence from the State (except for the courtroom deputy's "rebuttal" testimony) that Russell and "Poncho" were the same person. (R. pp. 394-95). Williams' testimony was essential for the State because he was the only witness who definitively identified Russell as having been present in the Residence on the night of the robbery. (R. pp. 273, 277-82). Williams referred to Russell as "Poncho" on more than one occasion during his trial testimony. (R. pp. 265, 280, 303). However, the State's records at the time, which contained other aliases for Russell, did not include "Poncho" as one of

Russell's nicknames. (R. pp. 252-53). As both parties noted in closing, the only witness in the State's case-in-chief who referred to Russell as "Poncho" was Williams. (R. pp. 409-10, 417-18). Russell's counsel pointed out that if "Poncho" was someone other than Russell, the State's case against Russell would be weakened considerably, both from the damage to Williams' credibility and since Russell presented an alibi for the night of the robbery. (R. p. 375).

The Solicitor told the jury that Russell's cell phone was found in the vehicle Williams had intended to use as the get-away vehicle. (R. p. 50). Williams' cell phone was recovered from the search of the vehicle he parked near the Residence, along with a second cell phone. (R. pp. 219-20). The cell phone carrier's records did not identify who owned the second cell phone. (R. pp. 225-26). Williams was the link between the second cell phone found in the vehicle and Russell. (R. p. 276). The investigating officer, Greenville County Sheriff Sergeant Dave Weiner ("Weiner"), testified that Williams told him during his January 5, 2011 confession that the second cell phone belonged to Russell. (R. pp. 224-25). However, Weiner conceded that there was no recording of the confession to substantiate this testimony and further conceded that Williams' written statement did not identify the second cell phone as belonging to Russell. (R. p. 227-28). Russell's counsel objected to the admission of the cell phone records because the affidavit supporting the search warrant for the contents of the second cell phone included Weiner's assertion that Williams identified the second cell phone as belonging to Russell, even though that fact did not appear in Williams' written statement. (R. pp. 30-31, R. pp. 235-36). The search of the phone's records revealed that the second cell phone included Williams in its contacts database, and that several calls had been

placed from that phone to Williams. (R. pp. 284-88, 484-508). The phone's database also included Russell's mother's phone number under the contact "Momma." (R. p. 238, 247, 332, 484-508). The contact alone did not necessarily connect the phone directly to Russell, because Ms. Russell testified that she talked to Russell regularly on the phone, and there were no calls in the second cell phone's database to or from Ms. Russell. (R. pp. 347, 484-508). Furthermore, Ms. Russell had other children besides Russell who could also reasonably have her number under the contact "Momma." (R. 336). The telephone number for Willett, who was undisputedly Russell's girlfriend at the time, does not appear anywhere in the second cell phone's records. (R. pp. 363, 484-508).

*The Solicitor, Without Notice to Russell, Called a Courtroom Deputy to Testify at Trial.*

After Russell presented his alibi evidence at trial, the Solicitor announced that he intended to present the testimony of a Greenville County Sheriff's deputy in rebuttal. (R. p. 369). The "rebuttal" witness, Master Deputy Bruce Allen Smith ("Deputy Smith"), had been the courtroom security deputy during Russell's trial. (R. p. 384). As such, Deputy Smith was present for the testimony of the witnesses during Russell's trial, and after hearing the evidence volunteered testimony regarding the alias "Poncho" to the Solicitor during the trial. (R. pp. 384-85). Deputy Smith was not on the Solicitor's witness list and was not identified as a rebuttal witness in response to Russell's Notice of Alibi Defense. (R. p. 370-72). According to the trial judge, the Solicitor originally asked to have Deputy Smith testify during the State's case-in-chief, but the trial judge refused to permit the testimony at that time because Deputy Smith was not on the State's witness list. (R. p. 374).

Russell's counsel objected to Deputy Smith testifying because his testimony was not related to Russell's alibi defense. (R. pp. 374-76). After hearing the arguments of counsel, the trial court overruled Russell's objection and permitted Deputy Smith to testify to the jury. (R. pp. 377-86). Deputy Smith testified that he worked off-duty as a security officer for an apartment complex in Greenville. (R. pp. 394-95). Deputy Smith testified that, approximately three to four years before the trial, he saw Russell wearing a camouflage jacket and riding a bicycle at the apartment complex. (R. p. 395). Deputy Smith testified that he asked Russell his name and Russell responded that his name was "Poncho." (R. p. 395).

Deputy Smith's testimony clearly had some effect on the jury, because the jury inquired about him during deliberations. (R. pp. 465). The jury sent a note to the trial court asking: "Was the police Officer Allen Smith on the original list of witnesses? Our concern is that he seems like a last minute witness." (R. p. 522). Deputy Smith was not, in fact, on the State's list of witnesses. (R. p. 466). The trial judge summoned the jurors and instructed them:

All right, Madam Forelady, ladies and gentlemen of the jury, your question with regard to Mr. Smith as a witness and whether or not he was on the original witness list, let me - - I always hate telling - - not answering a question that the jurors send out to me. However, the rules require that you have to make your decision based on the testimony and the evidence that you heard in this courtroom. Okay. And that's what I've tried to bring forth to you. That is information that is not in the evidence and so I'm not allowed to comment on it. The Judges are not allowed to comment on the facts or have an opinion of the facts. You'll just have to make your determination without any further response from me. And I'm sorry I can't be anymore clearer, okay.

(R. pp. 466-67). Russell's counsel objected to the trial court's instructions. (R. p. 467). Less than two hours later, the jury returned with a guilty verdict on all four counts of the indictment. (R. pp. 468-69).

## ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE REBUTTAL TESTIMONY OF THE COURTROOM DEPUTY WHO SAT IN COURT DURING THE ENTIRE TRIAL, WAS NOT PREVIOUSLY DISCLOSED AS A WITNESS, DID NOT TESTIFY AS TO ANY OF DEFENDANT'S EVIDENCE, AND PROVIDED THE ONLY TESTIMONY TO SUBSTANTIATE A CLAIM BY THE STATE'S STAR WITNESS THAT RELATED TO HIS IDENTIFICATION OF THE DEFENDANT AS HIS ACCOMPLICE.

A. *Standard of Review.*

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