ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-000381

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CHRISTOPHER ERIC RUSSELL,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUN 17 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.”); State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) (“A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.”).

Notably, in State v. Thompson, 68 S.C. 133, 134-135, 46 S.E. 941, 942 (1904), Thompson was charged with murder after killing a man who “accomplished the ruin” of Thompson’s daughter by promising to marry her. During trial, the solicitor attempted to introduce the testimony of a particular witness during his case-in-chief, Thompson objected, and the trial judge excluded the testimony. Id. at 135, 46 S.E. at 942. Subsequently, after Thompson had presented his case-in-chief, the solicitor again attempted to introduce the testimony of the previously-excluded witness, arguing that the basis upon which the testimony was excluded was incorrect. Id. At that point, defense counsel objected to the admission of the witness’ testimony due to the fact that it was allegedly too late for it to be admitted and not on the basis upon which it had previously been excluded. Id. However, after realizing that his ruling excluding the testimony was erroneous, the trial judge reversed that ruling and allowed the solicitor to introduce the testimony despite the fact that the parties’ cases-in-chief had already concluded. Id. Thereafter, Thompson was convicted and appealed, arguing that the admission of the witness’ testimony was improper due to the fact that it was admitted after both the State and the defense had concluded their cases-in-chief. Id. On appeal, the Supreme Court affirmed Thompson’s conviction. Id. at 137, 46 S.E. at 943. In affirming, the Supreme Court instructed:

It is clear in our minds that the Circuit Judge made no error as here presented. Suppose the Circuit Judge had erred in refusing to allow one of the defendant’s witnesses to be examined after the State had fully gone

into its evidence in reply to the defense, and then for the first time the Court became conscious of his error, ought he not to have allowed defendant's witnesses to be examined? Clearly so. Courts are organized to dispense justice, and when such Courts find that *they* have made mistakes in refusing to admit competent testimony, they should at once admit such testimony. There are numerous decisions in our State sustaining such conclusions.

Id. at 136, 46 S.E. at 943 (italics in original).

In the case sub judice, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in permitting the State to introduce the testimony of Master Deputy Smith after the defense rested its case because the solicitor – just like the solicitor in Thompson – was incorrectly precluded from presenting the testimony during his case-in-chief following an objection from defense counsel and an erroneous legal ruling from the trial judge. Critically, during the State's case-in-chief, the solicitor attempted to introduce the testimony of Master Deputy Smith at an appropriate time, and the trial judge prevented him from doing so after defense counsel raised an objection to the introduction of the testimony. The basis upon which the trial judge excluded the testimony at that time was that Master Deputy Smith was not originally on the State's witness list. However, as defense counsel later conceded to the trial judge, the fact that Master Deputy Smith's name was not on the State's witness list did **not** preclude him from testifying during trial. See State v. Nicholson, 366 S.C. 568, 579, 623 S.E.2d 100, 105 (Ct. App. 2005) (“The State . . . is not required to provide its witness list to a criminal defendant[.]”); see also Bryant, 372 S.C. at 315-316, 642 S.E.2d at 588 (recognizing that an issue conceded during trial cannot subsequently be argued on appeal). Because the trial judge's decision to prevent the solicitor from introducing Master Deputy Smith's testimony during the State's case-in-chief was legally incorrect, the trial judge properly corrected his earlier error by exercising his discretion and permitting the solicitor to introduce Master Deputy Smith's

testimony, which had only not been presented during the State's case-in-chief due to the trial judge's erroneous earlier ruling.¹⁶ See Thompson, 68 S.C. at 136, 46 S.E. at 943 ("Courts are organized to dispense justice, and when such Courts find that *they* have made mistakes in refusing to admit competent testimony, **they should at once admit such testimony.**" (italics in original and emphasis added)). Under those circumstances, the trial judge's decision was entirely proper and ensured that the trial was fair for all of the parties and that competent evidence relevant to the case was presented to the jury and not excluded merely as a result of the amount of time needed for the trial judge to discover his error in regard to it. See State v. Van Williams, 212 S.C. 110, 113, 46 S.E.2d 665, 667 (1948) ("The general rules for the introduction of testimony must necessarily be so often applied or relaxed according to circumstances apparent only to the Court engaged in conducting the trial, that a strict uniformity at all times is not to be expected and indeed, in some instances would prove injurious to the interests of justice. The Courts are agreed, accordingly, that the order of proof must be left to the sound discretion of the trial Court, and such Court will not be reversed unless it clearly appears that the Court has abused its discretion." (citations omitted)); see also Wren, 322 S.C. at 105, 470 S.E.2d at 112 ("A trial is a search for the truth; concomitantly, liberality is the linchpin of the rule.").

In arguing to the contrary, Appellant contends that the trial judge abused his discretion because Master Deputy Smith's testimony did not rebut any of the testimony presented by the defense witnesses. In support of that position, Appellant analogizes the

¹⁶ Notably, since the trial judge's initial decision to exclude Master Deputy Smith's testimony was controlled by an error of law, that initial decision constituted an abuse of discretion. See McDonald, 343 S.C. at 325, 540 S.E.2d at 467 ("An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law."). Thus, in essence, Appellant's argument against the admission of Master Deputy Smith's testimony is that the trial judge abused his discretion in correcting an earlier abuse of discretion.

circumstances of his case to the circumstances of State v. Farrow, 332 S.C. 190, 504 S.E.2d 131 (Ct. App. 1998). However, the circumstances in Farrow were markedly different from the circumstances of Appellant's case and do not support a conclusion that the trial judge abused his discretion in permitting the introduction of Master Deputy Smith's testimony. Specifically, in Farrow, the trial judge permitted the solicitor to introduce testimony that the solicitor had **not** attempted to introduce in his case-in-chief after Farrow concluded his case-in-chief based purely on written questions submitted by one of the jurors. Farrow, 332 S.C. at 132-133, 504 S.E.2d at 193-194. On appeal, this Court found that the introduction of the testimony was improper because it was not presented to rebut evidence introduced by Farrow. Id. at 133, 504 S.E.2d at 194.

Conversely, in Appellant's case, the solicitor **did** attempt to introduce Master Deputy Smith's testimony during his case-in-chief and was only prevented from doing so due to an objection raised by defense counsel and an erroneous ruling from the trial judge. As a result, the circumstances of the cases are far different, and the trial judge in Appellant's case committed no error in permitting the introduction of the previously-excluded testimony after discovering that it had been excluded solely as a result of an error. See Thompson, 68 S.C. at 136, 46 S.E. at 943 (holding that a trial judge committed no error in permitting the introduction of previously-excluded evidence that was only excluded due to an error on the part of the trial judge despite the fact that the parties' cases-in-chief had concluded and instructing that trial judges should immediately admit improperly-excluded evidence when an error in regard to the exclusion of that evidence is discovered); see also Clyburn, 16 S.C. at 378 ("The conduct of a case in the Circuit Court, so far as relates to the time when testimony may be introduced, must be left to the

discretion of the Circuit judge, to be governed **by the particular circumstances of each case.**" (emphasis added)).

Additionally, in seeking a reversal of his convictions, Appellant contends on appeal that the trial judge's ruling was prejudicial to him because Master Deputy Smith's testimony allegedly ambushed him, because the jury allegedly might have given undue weight to Master Deputy Smith's testimony due to the fact that he was a courtroom security officer, and because the trial judge did not poll the jurors to see if any of them knew of or were related to Master Deputy Smith.¹⁷ However, as the trial judge did **not** err or abuse his discretion in allowing the solicitor to introduce Master Deputy Smith's testimony, a prejudice analysis is entirely unnecessary in regard to the admission of that evidence. See Thomasko v. Poole, 349 S.C. 7, 17, 561 S.E.2d 597, 602 (2002) ("It is well established that an appellant seeking reversal of a decision by the trial court **must show both error and prejudice.**" (emphasis added)). Regardless though, the grounds identified by Appellant would not entitle him to a reversal of his convictions even assuming that a prejudice analysis was somehow necessary under the circumstances.

¹⁷ On appeal, Appellant also appears to suggest that Master Deputy Smith's testimony established Appellant's presence at the scene of the crimes and that his identity was required to be disclosed prior to trial as a result. See Rule 5(e)(2), SCRCrimP ("Within ten days after defendant serves his [alibi defense] notice, but in no event less than ten days before trial, or as the court may otherwise direct, the prosecution shall serve upon the defendant or his attorney the names and addresses of witnesses upon whom the State intends to rely to establish defendant's presence at the scene of the alleged crime."). Notwithstanding the fact that Appellant did not preserve such an argument by raising it to the trial judge, Master Deputy Smith did **not** testify that Appellant was present at the scene of the crimes. See In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009) ("Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review."). Instead, he merely testified about his knowledge of Appellant's nickname while Appellant's presence at the scene of the crimes was established by the direct testimony of his accomplice, who identified Appellant by name as a participant in the crimes and identified him in-court as his accomplice. (R. pp. 264-265; pp. 382-385; pp. 394-395). Thus, to the extent that Appellant is asserting the solicitor was required by South Carolina's criminal procedure rules to disclose Master Deputy Smith's name before trial, that assertion is wholly without merit. However, assuming that Appellant's contentions in that regard were somehow valid, those contentions would conflict with Appellant's argument that Master Deputy Smith's testimony should not have been admitted because it did not rebut the testimony presented in Appellant's defense, which was primarily focused on Appellant's alleged alibi.

Initially, none of the prejudice grounds identified by Appellant on appeal was ever raised to or ruled upon by the trial judge, and, thus, those grounds cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. See State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005) (“The rule is well established that if asserted errors are not presented to the lower Court, the question cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.”); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal.”); see also State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”). However, even if they were somehow preserved despite the fact that they were not raised during trial, they still would not have entitled Appellant to any appellate relief.

Regarding Appellant’s contentions that the introduction of Master Deputy Smith’s testimony was an improper ambush, the issue to which the officer testified was directly raised by defense counsel’s questioning of the witnesses and, had it not been so raised, would have been largely irrelevant to the case since Appellant’s accomplice identified Appellant not just by nickname but also directly by name subsequent to his arrest. Moreover, the trial judge had the solicitor proffer Master Deputy Smith’s testimony prior to its introduction into evidence, and the trial judge allowed defense counsel to investigate the prevalence of the nickname “Poncho” upon request. Under those circumstances, the introduction of Master Deputy Smith’s testimony did not ambush Appellant and resulted in no improper prejudice to him. Cf. State v. Duncan, 274 S.C. 379, 382, 264 S.E.2d 421, 423 (1980) (“The trial judge properly exercised his discretion in allowing Strength to testify. With or without the [unconstitutional local] rule

[requiring the disclosure of the names of the State's witnesses], the defendant was not prejudiced in this instance, since his counsel was aware of the nature of Strength's testimony and declined an opportunity to confer with the witness prior to his taking the witness stand.").

Regarding Appellant's contentions about the jurors' potential connections to or interactions with Master Deputy Smith, the trial judge was prevented from taking any steps to address Appellant's complaints or to question the jurors about any connection or contact with Master Deputy Smith that they might have had since Appellant never called those matters to the trial judge's attention. See State v. Penland, 275 S.C. 537, 538, 273 S.E.2d 765, 766 (1981) ("One may not preserve a vice until he learns what the result will be and then, take advantage of the error on appeal."); State v. Burnett, 226 S.C. 421, 424, 85 S.E.2d 744, 746 (1954) ("A defendant may not reserve vices in his trial, of which he has notice as here, taking his chances of a favorable verdict, and in case of disappointment, use the error to obtain another trial."); State v. Ballew, 83 S.C. 82, 87, 63 S.E. 688, 690 (1909) ("The general principle that a party can not take his chances of a successful issue, reserving vices in the trial, of which he has notice, for use in case of disappointment, is universally recognized and obviously just."); see also State v. Logan, 279 S.C. 345, 348, 306 S.E.2d 622, 624 (1983) ("Appellant can neither take advantage of an error he contributed to at trial nor preserve a vice and, upon learning of the outcome of trial, raise it on appeal."). As a result, Appellant cannot complain about the trial judge's failure to address those issues for the first time on appeal, and his unreserved contentions cannot properly be addressed on appeal. See State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 485, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 1991) ("Where an objection and the ground therefor is not stated in the record, there is no basis for appellate review."); see also State v. Hale,

284 S.C. 348, 355, 326 S.E.2d 418, 423 (Ct. App. 1985) (“Hale concedes that no exception was taken to the ‘Allen’ charge in the trial court. Having denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to object to the charge, Hale cannot properly raise the issue for the first time on appeal.”). Furthermore, nothing appearing in the record suggests that any of the jurors had a connection to Master Deputy Smith or that Master Deputy Smith had any direct interactions with any of the jurors in carrying out his role in providing courtroom security. Accordingly, Appellant suffered no improper prejudice from the introduction of Master Deputy Smith’s testimony.

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